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THIS IS THE BEGINNING OF ADMINSTRATIVE FINE CASE

4
DATE FILMED 57/} [91 CAMERA NO. 4
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MEMORANDUM ITIV!
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON O
ASSISTANT STAFHIDIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE
ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached are two lists of political committess and their treasurers who failed to file
or timely file the 2000 October Quarterly Report in accordance with 2 U.8.C. 434(a). On
Septernber 21, 2000, Prior Notice was sent to all political committees and their (reasurers,
informing them that the 2000 October Quarterly Report was due on October 15, 2000.
The report should cover from July 1, 2000 (or the closing date of the last report filed)

through September 30, 2000.

The commitiees appearing on the first list (not election-sensitive) either filed the
report more than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or filed the report
more than thirty (30) days after the due date (considered a mon-filed report). The
committees appearing on the second list {clection-sensitive) either filed the report more
than five (5) days afier the due date, failed to file the report or failed to file the report
prior to four (4) days before the genezal election {considered a non-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 CFR 111.43, these
committees should be assessed the civil money penalties included on the attached lists.
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Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers
listed on the RTB Circulation Reports

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalties would be the amounts indicated on the RTB Circulation Reports.

(2)

(3) Send the appropriate letters.

()
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washingion, DC 20463

N

SENSITI VE

'DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, November 28, 2000 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, December 01, 2000 _4:00

& | COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

o SUBJECT: Reason To Believe Recommendation 2000 October
e Quarterly Report For The Administrative Fines Program.

() | approve the recommendation(s}
() | approve the recommendations except those following
= to which | object (please insert AF#)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. Al ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

! FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION

1
*
©
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Iin the Matter of

Reason to Believe Recommendation 2000
October Quarterly Report for the
Administrative Fines Program

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU

ag treasurer;
RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and BETITY

PRESLEY as treasurer;

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and
MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer;

JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and

RAFAEL ORTEGA ag treasurer;
DANNER FOR COMNGRESS, and EARL SOETAERT

as treasurer;
MOORE FOR US SENATE, and LARRY ROPSA

as treasurer;

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR as treasurer;

JUDY SMITH FOR CONGRESS, and ALVERNON
MCHENRY as treasurer;

L e A

Agenda Document
NQ. 300“87

AFH 97

AF# 98
AF# 100
AF# 102

AF# 103

AF# 104

AF# 107

AF# 113
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Federal Election Commisgsion Page 3

Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS EXPLORATORY AF# 139

COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFO3S as

treaguxrer;
COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR

US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurexr;

AF# 140

HUTCHINS FOR CQNGRESS, and BRUCE B ) AP# 143
RAFER as treasurery

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and CHARLES H ) AF# 145
REEVES IIXI as breasurern; }

£VA CLAYTON COMMITTEE POR CONGRESS, ) AFH 148
and PATSY T BARGROVE asz treasurer; )

E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PAC) , AF# 150

and MICHAEL CHOCHON az tzeasuxar)
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE RARAEM PAC, .
and WILLIAY R LITTLE MD FAREM as
treasuraXx;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN

ag treasurexr;

APH 151

AF# 182

T Tage? U M e e Gped U e



Pederal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
becember 05, 2000

CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL

ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON

as treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treapurexr;

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY INNS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurer;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
RITTLEMAN as treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GEORGE W REILLY as treasurer:

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as CLreasurer;

UNITED ASSOCIATION OF
STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNICON 524
POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and ANTHONY
GALENAS ag treasurer;

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE POLITICAL

ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as

treasurer;
MACOME COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer;

P ™ W o B

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF§

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

Page 4

153

154

156

is58

1589

162

163

164

165

166
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Federal Election Commission Page 5
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE ) AF# 168
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J )
GOULD as treasurey; )
CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and LEE ANHN ) AF# 169
FITZGERALD as treasurer; )
PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION AF# 172

COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treagurer;

Nt et S N



Federal Election Commission Page 6
Caertification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

CERTIPICATION
§~ I, Darlene Harris., recording secretary for the
g} Federal Election Commission executive session on
é December 5, 2000, do hereby certify that the
i
ig Commisgsion took the following actions with respect
g; to the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
wz November 28, 2000, on the following committees:

AF§ 97: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and
JOSEPH CHOU as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434 (a)
and make a preliminary determination that the ecivil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2} send the appropriate letter.
Commigaioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decigion.
Commisgsioner Thomas did not wote.

AF§ 98: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1} £ind .
reason to believe that RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and
BETTY PRESLEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a)



Federal Election Commission Page 7
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commisasioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 100: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS /
2000, and MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AFH# 102: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, violated



Federal Election Commission Page &
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil monmey penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

® AF# 103: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find

L reason to believe that DANNER FOR CONGRESS, and EARL
SOETAERT az treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
- Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

e
5t
L

AFf# 104: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MOORE FOR US SENATE, and
LARRY KOPSA as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate lettezx.
Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



Federal Election Commission Page 9
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000
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5? AF# 107: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find

it reason to believe that TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and
ﬁf FRANK M VACCARO JR as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C.

fg 434 (a} and make a preliminary determination that the
§¥ civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
" the report; {(2) send the appropriate letter.

of Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
fi} Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

Conmissioner Thomas did not vote.
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Federal Election Commisgion Page 10
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

AF# 113: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1} find
reason to believe that JUDY SMITH FOR CONGRESS, and
ALVERNON MCHENRY as treasurer, violated 2 U.2.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissionere Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 139: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS
EXPLORATORY COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFCES as
treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434{a) and make a
preliminaxy determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the repoxt;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decigion. Commisgioner Thomas

did not wvete.

AF# 140: Declided by a veote of 5~0 teo: (1) find
reagon to believe that COMMITTEE TQ BLECT RKEVIK
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MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and XEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 143: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and
BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision,
Commissioner Thomasz did not vote,
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AF# 145: Decided by a vote of 5~0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MEEKS FOR CONGRESE 2000, and
CHARLES H REEVES IIT as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vete.
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AF# 148: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: {1) £ind
reason to believe that EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR
CONGRESS, and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer,
vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary

¥ determination that the civil money penalty would be
L the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the

4 appreopriate letter. Commissgioners Masomn, McDonald,
o Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
£} the decigion. Commissioner Thomas did not vote,

Lid

AF# 150: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(E*TRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make 2 preliminary
determinaticn that the civil money penalty would be
rhe amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 151: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY
MEDICINE POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AMEM PAC, and
WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, gandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AFY 152: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the wreport;
3 (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners

. Mason, McDeonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted

; affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AP# 153: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find

y reason to believe that CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL

: POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON as
i treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a

i preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not wveote.

1+
ris
o

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC,
and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
jetter. Commissioners Mason, Mcbonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 156: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
) reason to believe that INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY
%% INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES P
i MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434{(a) and
R make a preliminary determination that the eivil

money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 158: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M KITTLEMAN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the c¢ivil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commigsioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not wvote.

AF# 155: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTER, and GEORGE W REILLY
ae treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
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(2) send the appropriate letter. Commicsioners
Mason, MeDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decigion. Commissicner Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 1l62: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1} £ind
reason to believe that TACO POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be tha amount
indicated on the zeport; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commisszioners Masomn, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AFH# 163: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that UNITED ASSOCIATION OF
STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNION 524 POLITICAL ACTION
FUND, and ANTHONY GALENAS asz treasurer, vioclated 2
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U.S8.C. 434{(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissicner Thomas did not vote.

AFH# 164: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(3a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonmald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AF# 1653 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissicners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Cormissioner Thomas
did not wote.

AFH# 166: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC
COMMITTEE, and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer, violated
2 U.8.C. 434 (a) and make a prelimimary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
jetter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decigion. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: {1) find
reagon to believe that WEST VIRGINIR REPUBLICAN
STATE BAECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J GOULD as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amcunt indicated on the report;
{2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold veoted
affirmativaely for the decision. Commissionexr Thomas
did not wvote,

AF# 169: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and
LEE ANN FITZGERALD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Cormmissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissiconer Thomas did not vote.
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AFPH# 172: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC COMPANY
PAC), zand THERESA M RUCH as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil meney penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



V.
i

B
T
ot mmmad®

%

L.

R
o

g gt ey
g o 2
T et Ll 1

o

1=

i
Yoo niSer W

oy
o

Federal Election Commission Page 26

Certification for Administrative Fines
Pecember 05, 2000

Attest:

Hoecermbwy 7. R000 @Jmﬁsmﬁ/
Date - Darlene Harris
Acting Deputy Secretary
nf the Commisszion
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WESTERN UNION LOMHMERCIAL SERVILES
CONFIRMATION OF CMGH TOsSNANCY FALCONE ‘
MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE
310 EUCLID SY STE 11
MOUNT CLEHMENS MI 4B043-9702

FZOERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
LEAH PALMER

999 E ST NW # 7089
BASHINGTON OC 20453

ODZCEMBER 74 2000

MANCY FALCONE

MACOMD COUMTY DEMQCRATIC CCMMITTEER
310 EUCLID SUITE 11

HT CLEMENS MI 43043

£00354332
AF8: 166

JEAR MANCY FALCONE:

THE FEDERAL SLECTION CAMPAIGN ACT OF 1971y AS AMENDED (™THE
ACT™3, REQUIRES THAY YCUR COMMITTEE FILE AN OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORY
QF RECEIPTS AND DISSURSESHMENTS IN A CALENDAR YEAR IN WHICH A
DNEGULARLY SCHEDULED GENERAL ELECTION IS HELDe THIS REPORTy LOVERING
THE PERIQD THR3JUGH SEPTEMBER 30THs SHALL 3E FILED NO LATER THAN
NCTOBER 15THe 2 WeSaCo %341A). ¥YOU WERE PREVIOUSLY NOTIFIED OF THE
DUE DATE FOR THIS RSPORT. RECORDS AT THE COMMISSION INDICATE THAT
THIS REPORT WAS FILED ON 10424720000 9 DAYS LATE,

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1999 TO PERMIT THE FEDERAL
SLECTION COMMYISSION €#THE COMMISSION™) TO IMPOSE CIVIL HMONEY
PENALTISS FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE REPDRTING REQUIREMENTS OF 2 UoeSeloe
434{A0e 2 UoSele 437GLAI[4)s ON 1270572000, THE COMHISSION FOUND
THAT THERE IS REASON TO BELIEVE (%aTa%} THAT YMACOMB COUNTY
DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE AND YCUp AS TREASURER, VIOLATED 2 UeSaeCe 4340AJ
8Y FAILING TD FILE TIMELY TAIS REPOAT ON OR BEFORE OCYOBER L1l5TH.
BASED ON THE COMMISSION®S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MDNEY PENALTIES AT 11
CFR 111.43s THE AMDUNT DF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB
15 $1125400, IT IS DUT 3Y 0i/714/2001 AND IS BASED ON THESE FACTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: $67576

NUMBER OF DAYS LATE: 9

NUMBER OF PREVIZUS CIVIL MONEY PCNALTIES ASSESSED: O

TO PAY THE CALCULATED {1VYIL MONEY PENALTY
YD PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYo. SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITYANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT TO THE COMMISSIDN AY YHE ADORESS ON PAGE



3. UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION HWILL SEND YOU A
FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RT3 FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RT3 FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PEMALTY s YOU MUST SUBMIT A WRITTEIN RESPONSE 7O THE COMMISSION®S
AFFICE DF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEHy 999 E STREETe Nuo HWASHINGTONs DC
20463« YJUR RESPONSE MUST BE RECEIVED 3Y 01/7/14/2001. YOUR HRITTEN
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASONCS) WHY YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RTE
FIMDING AMD/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALYY. THE COMMISSION HWILL
ONLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED ON A FACTUAL ERRGRs
MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL HONEY PENALTY BY THE
COMMISSIONy; OR THZ EXISTENCE OF EXTRACRODINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FOR YORE THAN 48 HOURS THAT WERE BEYOND YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YOU FROM FILING THE REPORT IN A TIMELY MANNER. VDUR
RESPAONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASIS SUPPORTING THE REASONI(S? AND
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION. THE COMMISSION STRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAT
DACUMENTS 0F SU3IMITTED IN THE FDRM OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATIONS.
SXTRADPDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT BE CONSIOERED INCLUDE, BUT
ARE NOY LIMITED 70 NEGLIGENCEs PROBLEMS WITH VENDORS OR
CONTRACTORS, STAFF ILLNESS, LOMPUTER FAILURES AND STMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESS 11 CFR 111.35133(13(I111) AND (4},

IF YOU INTEND TO 3E REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL, PLEASE ADVISE THE
JFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIZHe YOU SHOULD PROVIOE. IN WRITINGs
THE NAMEy, ADJRESS AKD TELEPHONE MUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHODRIZE
COUNSEL TN RECEIVE MOTIFICATICONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGS AMD IMPASITICM 0OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL HMONEY PENALTVY.

IF YOU DO HAT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE

I YOU DO NOT PAY THF CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSE, THE COMMISSION WILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAT
MACOMAR COUNTY DEMACRATIC COMMITTEE AND YOUe AS TREASURERs VIOLAYED 2
UeSalae 4340AY AND ASSESS A CIVIL MOINEY PENALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
SINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECY TO THE DEBT COLLECTION ACT OF
1982¢"DCAMIAS AMENDED BY THE DEBT CCLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACT OF
19969 31 UoSeCs 3701 ET 35EQe THE COMMISSION MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED BY THE DCAy AS AMENDED,
INCLUDING TRANSFER TO THE Ua5. DEPARTHMENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTINN. 11 LFR 111,45

THIS MAYTER WAS GENERATED BASED ON INFORMATION ASCERTAINED BY
THE COMMISSION IN THE NORMAL COURSE OF CARRYING OUT IT5S SUPERVISORY
RESPONSEIBILITIESe 2 UeSaCe %37GI{ANI23s IT WILL REMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORDANCE WITH 2 UeSefo 43T7GLANI{4I(3) AND 437G{ANIRZITAD UNLESS
YOU NOTIFY THE COMMISSION IN WRITING THAT YOU WISH THE MATTER TO BE
MADE PUSLIC.

ADDITIDNAL INFORMATION ON THE COMMISSION®S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE
PROGRAM, INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATIONS, IS5 LOCATED AV THE
COMMISSION?S MEBSITE AT WWHW.FEC.GOV. [F YNU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE PAYMENTY OF THE CALZULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY. PLEASE
CONTACT We BASIL TSIAPRIS IN THE REPORTS AMNALYSIS OIVISION AY OUR
TOLL FREE HUMIER (B00)424-5530 E(PRESS 1y THEN PRESS 20 OR
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

£2021694-1130. IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE SUBMISSION OF A
CHALLENGEs PLEASE CONTACT THE OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT OUR
TOLL FREE NUMBER {8003424-9530 {PRESS 0o THEN EXT. 1660) DR

(20231696~1560.
SINCERELY,

DARRYL WOLD
CHAIRMAN

% # * & & % % * @ 2 & % % =
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAVMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE GOF PENALTIES AT 11 CFR 111643s
THE AMDUNY GOF YOUR CIVIL MCNEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB 15
$1125.00 FOR THE 2000 OCTO3ER QUARTERLY REPORT.
BLEAST MAIL THIS REMITTANCE WITH A CHECK DR MONEY ORDER MADE
PAYABLF TO THE FEDERAL SLECTION COMMISSION TO THE FOLLOMING ADDRESS:
FEDERAL ELECTIDN COMMISSION
Pa0s BDX 952182
$Te LOUISy MO0 83195-2142

1£ YOU CHOQSE 7O SEND YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAVMENT 8Y COURISR OR
QVIZRNIGHT DELIVERYy PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:S
FIRSTAR - GAOVERNMENT LOCKBOX
FEL #352182
1005 CONVENYION PLAZA
ST LOUIS, MO 43101

THZ REMITTANCZ AND YOUR PAYMENT ARE DUE 8Y 0171472001 UPON
RELEZIPT OF YDUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU

A FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AMND RETURN THES PORTION BELOW WITH YOQUR PAVYMENY

e R P e D e e D W G T i o e W e ATE U AN GRS W SR W S A R YR S e CI my  aw Ak Ta e s KD T S U B T M . AN 0

FOR: HACOME COUNTY DEMOCURATIC COMMITTEE
FEC §Di#: (00354332

AF#: 166

PAYMENT DUE DATZ: Q171472001

PAYHMENT AMIUNT DUE: $1125.00
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TIRAL ELECTION

C0VSSION.
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION ey
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 R PSS B P
March 27, 2001
MEMORANDUM E@E@E
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAFH DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY AND NOVEMBER MONTHLY REPORTS

Attached are two lists of political commuitees and their treasurers which the
n has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
¢ failure to file or failure to timely file the 2000 October
hly Reports. The first list represents committees that have
d the second list represents those that have not paid. The
e been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the

Commissio
penalties calculated at RTB fo

Quarterly and November Mont
paid the civil money penalty an
committees that have not paid hav
RTB notification to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 CFR 111.34 and 11 CFR 111.40, the Commission shall send

a final determination notice to those respondents that have cither paid or not paid the civil

money penalty.

committees have filed their reports after the RTB finding. The actual level of
activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that
assessed at RTB.

The committecs

arc:
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e Committee to Elect Kevin McKeigue for US Senate
AF #140

None of the committees listed above have paid the civil money penalty. The actual
level of activity and receipt date of the reports, as well as the revised civil money
penalties, are reflected on the attached “not paid” circulation report.

additional committees filed the report after the RTB finding and disclosed
levels of activity that would have resulted in higher civil money penalties had the reports
been filed prior to the RTB stage. However, the internal procedures adopted by the
Commission on Martch 20, 2001 only allows for approval of a lower civil money penalty
at the final determination stage if the report discloses an actual level of activity which is
less than the estimate on which the RTB civil money penalty was based. Therefore, the
civil money penalty that is recommended at the final determination stage for the
following committees is the same amount that was approved at the RTB stage:

e Eva Clayton Commitiee for Congress (AF #148)
RTB fine based on estimated level of activity: $4,000
Actual level of activity fine: $5,000
(The $4,000 finc has been paid by the C ommittee)



RAD Recommendation

{1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties 50

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Wednesday, March 28, 2001 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Monday, Aprit 02, 2001 4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly

Reports.
() | approve the recommendation(s)
{} | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object {please insert AF#)

{) { approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return baliot no later
than date and time shown above. ’

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION



BECH
E T

)
! LW

P,

P
R QN

i
b

usts

et

MG

w

. S

-

=

E

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Finesz Final
Determination Recommendation For The
2000 October Quarterliy And November

Monthly Reports

B e e

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU ) AF# 87

as treasurer: }

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and } AF# 100

MARY LYNMN LANIER as treasurer; )

JANEZICE FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and ) AF$# 102

RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer; )

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M } AF# 107
)

VACCARO JR as treasurer;
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Federal Election Commission Page 2
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCREIGUE FOR AF# 140
US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer;

HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E
RAFER as treasurer;

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and CHARLES H

REEVES III as treasurer;

AF# 143

AF# 145

EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS, ) AF# 148
and PATSY T HARGRCVE as treasurer; )]

E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PAC), AF# 150
and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer;
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM PAC,
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
as treasgurer;

CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON
as treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN

ROBERTSON as treasurer;

AF# 151

AF# 152

AF# 153

AF# 154

N e et Ve Vel el sl Mt v i e s’ e et

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY INNS INC AF# 156
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurerxr;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN asg treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and

GEORGE W REILLY as treasurer;

AF# 158

AF# 159

L D I A R



Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines

April 02, 2001

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as treasurer;

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC POQLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer;

MACOMEB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer;

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD ag treasurer;

PECO ENERGCY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer;

COMMITTEE OKN ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000
REPUBLICAN NATION CONVENTION, and ALEC
POQITEVINT as treasurer;

BILL BRADLEY FOR PRESIDENT INC, and
THEODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer;

B . N R i

L e

Page 3

AF# 162

AF# 164

AF# 165

AF# 166

AF# 168

AF# 172

AFE 177

AF# 237
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Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that
on April 2, 2001 the Commission took the following
actions on the Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly
Report in the Administrative Fines Program, as
recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001, on the follewing

committeey:

AF§ 97: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS,
and JOSEPH CHOU as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 100: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS
/ 2000, and MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 102: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, violated
2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, MeDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 107: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TOM FQOLEY FOR US -
SENATE, and FRANK M VACCARO JR as treasurer,

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appreopriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decigion.
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AF# 140: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE TO ELECT
KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasureyr, vioclated 2 U.5.C. 434(a) and acssess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Divigion’sa Memorandum dated Mazch 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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AF# 143: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS,
and BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434({a) and asgess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the apprcpriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 145: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MEEKS FOR CONGRESS
2000, and CHARLES H REEVES III as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and agsegs a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandazstrom, Smith, Thomasz, and Wold wvoted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 148: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE
FOR CONGRESS, and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter.
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Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas,
and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 150: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(E*TRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCIHON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S8.C. 434 (a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysig Diviesion's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 151: Decided by a vote of 6~0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the AMERICAN ACADEMY OF -
EMERQGENCY MEDICINE POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM
PAC, and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandwn dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, MeDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 152: Decided by a vote of .6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Divigion's Memorandum dated March 27,
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2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 153: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CINCINNATI BELL INC
FEDERAL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W
PETERSON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 4324(a) and
aszess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McbDonald, Sandstrem, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CITIZENS FOR THE
REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;{(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, Mcbonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 156: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the INN/PAC INT'L ASSN COF
HOLIDAY INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
JAMES P MCCAULEY as treasurer, wiolated 2 U.5.C.

434 (a) and assesg a civil money penalty indicated in
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the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;{2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold woted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 158: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MARRIOTIT INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN ag treasurar, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decigiecn.

AF# 159: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a

final determination that the PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO

1 NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GEORGE W
REILLY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assegs a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March

27, 2001; (2) send ths appropriate letter. -

Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisgicn.
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AF# 162: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TACO POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434{(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 164: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the VIACOM INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commisgsioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 165: Decided by a vote of 6-0 tce: (1) make a
final determination that the WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLITICAL, ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports -
Analysig Division‘s Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 166: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
£final determination that the MACOMB COUNTY
DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE, and HANCY FALCONE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434{(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in.the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decigion.
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AFH 168: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WEST VIRGINIA
REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and RCOBERT J
GOULD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
. assesg a civil money penalty indicated in the
% Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
T 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
pey Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 172: Decided by a vote of 6-~0 to: (1} make a
final determination that the PECO ENERGY COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA
ELECTRIC COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.¢. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
BAnalysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
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Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 177: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE ON
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBLICAN NATION
CONVENTION, and ALEC POITEVINT as treasurear,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decizion.

- -

AFH# 237: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the BILL BRADLEY FOR
PRESIDENT INC, and THEODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;{2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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ifl Dste Mary W./Dove

i Secretdry of the Commission

%f Received in the Secretariat: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 12:34 p.m.
e Circulated to the Commission: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 4:00 p.m.

Deadline for wvote: Mon., Apr. 02, 2001 4:00 p.m.

.
b

—
j:nolg



Lo | g igy

IMﬁl;\ W

Wy
L

pond

HESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION OF MAILGRAM TO:MANCY FALCONE
MACO#3 COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE
310 EULLID ST STE 11
MOUNT CLEMENS MI 4B043~9702

FEDERAL ELZCTION COMMISSION
LEAH PALMER

399 £ ST NW & 709
WASHINGTON DU 20463

APRIL 4 2001

NANCY FALCONE

MACOM3 CQUNTY DJEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE
310 EUCLID SUITE 11l

MT ZLEMERS M1 43043

€093543132
AFB: 166

JEAR MANCY FALCINE:

0 1270572000, THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION {THE
COMMISSIGNT™) F3UND REASON T3 BELIEVYE (WRT8™) THAT MACOME COUNTY
DEMNCRATIC COMMITTEEZ AND YOUs AS TREASURERe VIOLATED 2 UeSeCe 4341AJ
FOP FILING LATE DR FAILING TO FILE THFE 2000 GJCTQOBER QUARTERLY
REPORTS 0BY MAILGRAM DATED 12707720009 THE COMMISSION SENT YOU
NOTIFICATION OF THE RT3 FIMDING THAT INCLUDED A CIVIL HMONEY PENALTY
CALCULATED AT RTB OF $51125.00 IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF
PENALTIES AT 11 CoFeRe 1llie%3e

OM 1272772000, THE CONMMISSION RECEIVED PAYHMENT OF YOUR CIVIL
AQNEY PENALTY CALGCULATED AT RT3. THEREFORE. THE COMMISSION MADE A
FINAL DETERMINATION ON 0470272001 THAT YQUes AS TREASURER: AND
MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE VIOLATED 2 UoSefe 4341Ab
ASSESSED A CIVIL MONZY PENALTY In THE AMOUNT OF $$1125.00 IN
ACCORDANCE WITH 11 CoFoRse 11le43s AND YOTVED 7O CLOSE THE FILE.

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS AT 2 UeSole 43T7GUAN{12} NO LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MATTER IS NOW PUBLIC. THE FILE WILL BE MADE A PART DF
THE PUBLIC RECTRD PURSUANT TO 11 CaFsRo 111.42(Dbs ALTHOUGH THE
COMPLETE FJILS HUST BE PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECDARD WITHIN THIRYY {300
DAYS FROM THE DATS OF THE COMMISSION®S NOTIFICATIDNe THEIS COULD OCCUR
AT ANYTIME FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE COMMISSION®S VOTE.

1F YOU HAVE ANY QUESTICNS REGARDING THIS MATTERe PLEASE CONTALT
JOHN Go MUCKLE ON OUR TOLL FREE NUMBER {800)426-953D {PRESS 1, THEN
PRESS 2% OR (20234694-1120.

SINCERELYe

DANNY LEE MCOORNALD
CHAIRMAN
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PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN
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FOR: MACOMB COUNTY DEMOQCRATIC COMMITTEE
FEC ID#: <C00354332

AF#: 166

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 01/14/2001

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $1125.00

MGMCOMP 21:17 EST

To reply by Mailgram Message, see reverse side for Western Union’s toli-free number.
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THIS IS THE END OF ADMINSTRATIVE FINE CASE
#

DATE FILMED S [i/o! CAMERANO. Y

CAMERAMAN_2&§
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